Before the

Administrative Hearing Commission

State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF DEPARTMENT OF
)

INSURANCE, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
)

AND PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 10-1520 DI



)

RAYMOND T. PALOMBO,
)




)



Respondent.
)

ORDER GRANTING PARTIAL SUMMARY DECISION 


Raymond T. Palombo is subject to discipline because he failed to report the administrative actions taken by another state, other states revoked his insurance licenses or denied his application for licensure, and he failed to respond to an inquiry by the Division of Consumer Affairs of the Department of Insurance, Financial Institutions and Professional Registration (“DIFP”).  We grant in part the motion for summary decision filed by the Director of DIFP and find cause for discipline under §§ 375.141.1(2) and (9).
  We deny the motion as to § 375.141.1(8) because the Director failed to prove that Palombo has demonstrated financial irresponsibility.


The Board shall inform us by February 18, 2011, whether it will proceed with the remaining allegations at the hearing set for February 23, 2011.
Procedure


The Director of DIFP (“the Director”) filed a complaint on August 6, 2010, seeking this Commission’s determination that cause exists to discipline Palombo’s insurance producer license.  Palombo did not file an answer.

On December 1, 2010, the Director propounded his first request for admissions upon Palombo.  Palombo failed to respond to the request.  Under Supreme Court Rule 59.01, made applicable to this Commission by 1 CSR 15-3.420, the failure to answer a request for admissions establishes the matters asserted in the request, and no further proof is required.
  Such a deemed admission can establish any fact, or “application of the facts to the law, or the truth of the ultimate issue, opinion or conclusion, so long as the opinion called for is not an abstract proposition of law.”
  That rule applies to all parties, including those acting pro se.
  Section 536.073
 and our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.420(1) apply that rule to this case.


On January 5, 2011, the Director filed a motion for summary decision.  We gave Palombo until January 17, 2011, to respond, but he failed to respond.  
Findings of Fact

1. On April 7, 2006, the Director issued Palombo a non-resident insurance producer license.
2. Palombo’s license expired on April 6, 2010.  
Count I –  Failure to Report Administrative Actions

and Violations of the Insurance Laws of Another State
3. On May 17, 2007, the Indiana Department of Insurance ordered Palombo to pay a $3,000 penalty for his failure to disclose cease and desist orders entered against him by insurance 
regulators in Florida, Nebraska, North Carolina, and Texas, in violation of Indiana Code §§ 27-1-15.6-12(b)(1), 27-1-15.6-12(b)(3), and 27-1-15.6-12(b)(8).
4. On May 31, 2007, the Georgia Commissioner of Insurance issued an order against Palombo to cease and desist from:  acting as an unauthorized insurer, administrator, or agent or agency on behalf of any unauthorized insurer; marketing or selling any unauthorized insurance products; charging, billing for, or collecting any premium or fee related to any unauthorized insurance; recruiting and soliciting or appointing any Georgia-licensed agent to act on Palombo’s behalf or purportedly on behalf of any authorized or unauthorized insurer, or otherwise transacting the unauthorized business of insurance in the State of Georgia, in violation of O.C.G.A. §§ 33-1-14, 33-3-2, 33-5-1, 33-23-4, 33-23-100, and 33-23-101.
5. On May 16, 2008, the Texas Department of Insurance revoked Palombo’s Texas general life, accident, and health insurance license because Palombo failed to disclose on his application for that license that cease and desist orders had been previously entered against him in Nebraska, Florida, North Carolina, and Texas.  These actions were found to be fraudulent and dishonest acts or practices, and acts for which such a license could be denied, in violation of Tex. Ins. Code Ann. §§ 4005.101(b)(5) and 4005.105(3).

6. On September 3, 2009, the California Department of Insurance revoked Palombo’s California life-only agent and accident and health agent license because of the Texas Department of Insurance’s revocation of his Texas license, in violation of Cal. Ins. Code 
§§ 1669(d) and 1738.
7. Palombo did not report any of these actions to the Director.

Count II – Insurance Licenses Denied or Revoked
8. On July 11, 2005, Wisconsin’s Office of the Commissioner of Insurance denied Palombo a permanent individual intermediary agent’s insurance license because Palombo had 
indicated in his application for such license that administrative action had been taken against him by the California Department of Insurance for selling unauthorized union plans.  The application was denied pursuant to §§ 6.59(c) and (d), Wisc. Adm. Code.

9. On May 16, 2008, the Texas Commissioner of Insurance revoked Palombo’s general life, accident, and health insurance license, as detailed in paragraph 5 above.

10. On September 3, 2009, the California Department of Insurance revoked Palombo’s California life-only agent and accident and health agent license, as detailed in paragraph 6 above.
11. Palombo did not report any of these actions to the Director.

Count III – Failure to Respond to Division Inquiry
12. On November 9, 2009, an investigator with the Division of Consumer Affairs of DIFP wrote to Palombo’s address of record and required a response from Palombo regarding administrative actions taken against him by insurance regulators in Texas, Wisconsin, Indiana, and California.  The letter required Palombo to respond by November 30, 2009.  Palombo did not respond. 
Count IV – Financial Irresponsibility
13. On June 13, 2008, the United States Secretary of Labor sued Palombo and others in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, alleging numerous violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”).

14. The suit alleged, generally, that Palombo and the other defendants mismanaged an employee benefit fund by transferring the employees and their existing claim liabilities to a fund that proved inadequate to fund those liabilities.
15. Neither Palombo nor any of the other defendants in that suit answered the complaint.
16. On June 9, 2009, the District Court entered a default judgment against all defendants except Palombo.

17. After the bankruptcy stay was lifted in Palombo’s case, the Secretary of Labor moved for entry of judgment awarding monetary relief against all defendants, including Palombo.
18. The District Court granted the Secretary of Labor’s motion on October 26, 2009.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint. 
  Our Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(5)(A) provides:
The commission may grant a motion for summary decision if a party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision and no party genuinely disputes such facts.

Palombo admitted facts and that those facts authorize discipline.
  But statutes and case law instruct that we must “separately and independently” determine whether such facts constitute cause for discipline.
  Therefore, we independently assess whether the facts admitted allow discipline under the law cited.  The Director has the burden to prove facts on which the law allows discipline as set forth in the complaint.


The Director argues that there is cause to discipline Palombo’s license under the following provisions of § 375.141:
1.  The director may suspend, revoke, refuse to issue or refuse to renew an insurance producer license for any one or more of the following causes:
*   *   *
(2) Violating any insurance laws, or violating any regulation, subpoena or order of the director or of another insurance commissioner in any other state;

*   *   *
(8) Using fraudulent, coercive, or dishonest practices, or demonstrating incompetence, untrustworthiness or financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business in this state or elsewhere;
(9) Having an insurance producer license, or its equivalent, denied, suspended or revoked in any other state, province, district or territory[.]

*   *   *
6.  An insurance producer shall report to the director any administrative action taken against the producer in another jurisdiction or by another governmental agency in this state within thirty days of the final disposition of the matter.  This report shall include a copy of the order, consent order or other relevant legal documents.
Violation of Insurance Laws of Other States and 
Failure to Report Administrative Actions of Other States

Section 375.141.1(2) creates a cause for discipline of Palombo’s license if he violated the insurance laws of other states.  Section 375.141.6 requires licensees to report administrative actions of other states.  Palombo failed to do this.  In the Indiana case, Palombo was ordered to pay a $3,000 civil penalty because he failed to report prior cease and desist orders entered against him in Florida, Nebraska, North Carolina, and Texas.  In the Georgia case, the Georgia Commissioner of Insurance issued an order against Palombo on May 31, 2007, to immediately cease and desist from committing various acts that violated Georgia’s insurance laws.  On 
May 16, 2008, the Texas Commissioner of Insurance revoked Palombo’s Texas general life, accident, and health insurance license because Palombo engaged in fraudulent and dishonest acts 
or practices, and because Palombo had committed an act for which such a license could be denied.  On September 3, 2009, the California Department of Insurance revoked Palombo’s California life-only agent and accident and health agent license because of the Texas Department of Insurance’s revocation of his Texas license.  Palombo did not report any of these actions to the Director.

In each case, Palombo failed to report an administrative action taken against him in another state for his violations of those states’ laws.  He thus violated § 375.141.6 and is subject to discipline under § 275.141.1(2).
Insurance License Revoked or Denied in Another State 

Section 375.141.1(9) creates a cause for discipline of Palombo’s license if he was either denied an insurance license by another state or his license in another state was revoked.  Two states – Texas and California – revoked his insurance license, and another state – Wisconsin – denied him a license.  Palombo is therefore subject to discipline under § 375.141.1(9).
Violation of Missouri Insurance Regulation by 
Failure to Respond to Inquiries by Consumer Affairs Division 

Section 375.141.1(2) creates a cause for discipline of Palombo’s license if he violated any of the Director’s regulations.  Regulation 20 CSR 100-4.100(2)(A) provides:
Upon receipt of any inquiry from the [Division of Consumer Affairs of DIFP], every person shall mail to the division an adequate response to the inquiry within twenty (20) days from the date the division mails the inquiry.  An envelope's postmark shall determine the date of mailing.  When the requested response is not produced by the person within twenty (20) days, this nonproduction shall be deemed a violation of this rule, unless the person can demonstrate that there is reasonable justification for that delay.

 
An investigator with the Division of Consumer Affairs of DIFP sent an inquiry to Palombo on November 9, 2009, regarding administrative actions taken against him in other 
states, but Palombo never responded.  Palombo is therefore subject to discipline under 375.141.1(2).
Section 375.141.1(8) – Financial Irresponsibility

Section 375.141.1(8) creates a cause for discipline of Palombo’s license for demonstrating financial irresponsibility.  The Director’s argument for finding that Palombo was financially irresponsible derives from a default judgment entered against Palombo and others by the Federal District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. 
The order entering default judgment against Palombo (“default judgment order”) recites the following facts: 
· Palombo was, at all relevant times, the president and sole shareholder of Contractors and Merchants Association (“CMA”).

· Palombo and CMA were fiduciaries of the Manufacturing and Industrial Workers Benefits Fund (“MIWU Fund”).
· The MIWU Fund held the assets of several “employee welfare benefit plans” as set out in § 3(1) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, 29 U.S.C. § 1002(1).

· On January 1, 2005, Palombo, CMA, and other defendants transferred 880 CMA members and their existing claim liabilities from the International Union of Public and Industrial Workers Fund to the MIWU Fund without conducting any underwriting analysis to determine whether contribution rates would be adequate to fund liabilities, or to conduct any formal process to establish contribution rates or benefit schedules.

· After CMA members’ benefit claims overwhelmed the MIWU Fund’s solvency, Palombo and CMA abandoned the MIWU Fund, and the MIWU Fund ceased processing benefit claims after March 31, 2005.

The District Court entered a default judgment against Palombo, CMA, and the other defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount of $2,958,681.36 on October 26, 2009.

While that judgment stated extensive facts as set out above, we found no evidence of either live testimony or testimony submitted by affidavit to prove the factual allegations of that 
complaint.  Instead, as Judge Martin noted in her order entering default judgment, she based the facts in said order on the allegations in the amended complaint. 

Had Palombo appeared in this action, we could not have accepted, without further evidentiary support, the facts as stated in Judge Martin’s order entering default judgment as proven under principles of collateral estoppel.  Collateral estoppel has four elements:  (1) the issue decided must be identical; (2) the prior litigation must have resulted in a final decision on the merits; (3) the party to be estopped must have been a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication, and (4) that party must have had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the prior suit.
  “A “judgment on the merits” is one rendered after argument and investigation and when it is determined which party is in the right, as distinguished from a judgment rendered upon some preliminary or merely technical point, or by default, and without trial.
  The default judgment was not a judgment on the merits.  Palombo’s failure to answer the Director’s complaint and his request for admissions does not alter the Director’s responsibility to prove the case against Palombo. 
Summary


There is cause for discipline of Palombo’s insurance producer license under § 375.141.1(2) and (9).  We grant the Director’s motion for summary decision as to Counts, I, II, and III.  We deny the motion as to Count IV.  The Director shall inform us by February 18, 2011, whether it will proceed with the remaining allegations at the hearing set for February 23, 2011.

SO ORDERED on February 16, 2011.


__________________________________



SREENIVASA   RAO   DANDAMUDI



Commissioner

�Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2010.


	� Killian Constr. Co. v. Tri-City Constr. Co., 693 S.W.2d 819, 827 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).


	� Briggs v. King, 714 S.W.2d 694, 697 (Mo. App., W.D. 1986).


	� Research Hosp. v. Williams, 651 S.W.2d 667, 669 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).


�RSMo 2000. 


�29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq.


�According to certified documents from the District Court, Palombo had an active Chapter 7 bankruptcy case at this time that, under the automatic stay provisions of 11 U.S.C. § 362, precluded entry of a default judgment against him.


�The underlying facts as detailed in the District Court’s order and judgment are set out under “Section 375.141.1(8)- Financial Irresponsibility” below.


�Section 621.045.  


�Palombo admitted the conduct by failing to respond to the Director’s request for admissions.


�Kennedy v. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n, 762 S.W.2d 454, 456-57 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).


�Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy v. Tadrus, 926 S.W.2d 132, 136 (Mo. App., W.D. 1996).


�Dailing v. Hall, 20 S.W.3d 616, 619 (Mo.App., S.D. 2000).
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